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INTRODUCTION

A claim under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004,
Labor Code section 2698 et seq. (PAGA), may only be brought by an “aggrieved
employee.” (Lab. Code, § 2699, subd. (a).) Plaintiff Erik Adolph contends that Uber
Technologies, Inc. (Uber) misclassified employees as independent contractors and seeks
civil penalties against Uber under PAGA. Before he began working for Uber, Adolph
signed an arbitration agreement, under the terms of which all disputes between them are
to be resolved in arbitration and which purported to waive Adolph’s right to assert a
PAGA claim. The California Supreme Court has held, however, that PAGA claims are
not subject to arbitration and that an agreement waiving the right to bring a representative
claim under PAGA violates public policy and is unenforceable. (Iskanian v. CLS
Transportation Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 384 (Iskanian).) Based on
Iskanian and the cases following it, the trial court denied Uber’s petition to compel
arbitration.

Uber contends on appeal that the initial question of whether Adolph is an
employee—who may bring a representative PAGA claim—or an independent
contractor—who may not—must be determined in arbitration. We disagree. California
case law is clear that the threshold issue of whether a plaintiff is an aggrieved employee
in a PAGA case is not subject to arbitration. Therefore, we affirm.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Adolph was a driver for UberEATS, a meal delivery service. The company
through which drivers are connected with those in need of UberEATS’ services is owned
by Uber. Before he began making deliveries for UberEATS in March 2019, Adolph
created an account to use the UberEATS app. In creating his account, Adolph accepted
an arbitration agreement, which “is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act,” and which
“applies to any dispute, past, present or future, arising out of or related to this Agreement

or formation or termination of the Agreement and survives after the Agreement
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terminates.” The parties do not dispute the terms of the arbitration agreement or that
Adolph accepted the arbitration agreement.

The arbitration agreement contains a waiver of all representative PAGA
claims, whether in court or in arbitration. It also provides that the validity of the PAGA
waiver may only be resolved in court, not through arbitration, and that if the PAGA
waiver is found to be unenforceable, the litigation of PAGA claims must be stayed
pending the outcome of arbitrable individual claims.

In October 2019, Adolph filed a putative class action complaint against
Uber, claiming that Uber had misclassified employees as independent contractors, and
had therefore failed to reimburse the class members for necessary work expenses. The
complaint alleged two causes of action: (1) violation of Labor Code section 2802, and
(2) violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200. Uber filed a petition to
compel arbitration of Adolph’s individual claims, strike the class action allegations, and
stay all court proceedings. The parties stipulated to allow Adolph to file a first amended
complaint adding a third cause of action for civil penalties under PAGA.

After the amended complaint was filed, Uber filed a renewed petition to
compel arbitration. The trial court granted the petition compelling arbitration of
Adolph’s individual claims in the first two causes of action, found that the class claims on
the first two causes of action were waived, and stayed the PAGA cause of action.

Adolph then filed a motion for leave to file a second amended complaint,
which would include only the PAGA cause of action, and a motion for preliminary
injunction to prevent the arbitration from proceeding. The trial court granted both
motions. Uber filed a notice of appeal from the order granting the preliminary injunction,
appeal No. G059860.

Adolph filed the second amended complaint alleging a single cause of
action under PAGA. Uber filed a petition to compel arbitration of Adolph’s independent

contractor status and of all issues of enforceability or arbitrability. The petition requested
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that the PAGA claim be stayed pending arbitration on the threshold issue of whether
Adolph was an aggrieved employee entitled to assert the PAGA claim. Adolph both
opposed and moved to strike the petition. The trial court denied the petition to compel
arbitration, and Uber filed a notice of appeal, appeal No. G060198.

This court granted the parties’ joint motion to consolidate appeal
Nos. G059860 and G060198.

DISCUSSION

1. Standard of Review

Because the evidence is not in conflict, we review the order denying a
petition to compel arbitration de novo. (Banc of California, National Assn. v. Superior
Court (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 357, 367.) The trial court’s order granting a preliminary
injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. (Hunt v. Superior Court (1999) 21
Cal.4th 984, 999; Olson v. Hornbrook Community Services Dist. (2021) 68 Cal. App.5th
260, 268.)
Il. The Federal Arbitration Act

The Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.) (FAA) “establishes ‘a

liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements.

(2018) 584 U.S. _ [138 S.Ct. 1612, 1621] (Epic).) By its terms, the FAA applies to

(Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis

any “written provision in . . . a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to
settle by arbitration a controversy” and makes those provisions “valid, irrevocable, and
enforceable.” (9 U.S.C. § 2.) The arbitration provision in the agreement between Adolph
and Uber provides that it is to be governed by the FAA, and the agreement
unquestionably involves commerce. The FAA is therefore implicated in this case.
III. Under California Law, PAGA Claims Are Not Arbitrable

In California, PAGA authorizes an employee to bring an action for civil
penalties against his or her employer on behalf of the state for violations of the Labor

Code. The California Supreme Court has held that because a PAGA claim is brought on
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behalf of the state, which is not a signatory to the employment agreement, a PAGA claim
is not subject to any arbitration agreement between the employee and the employer,
despite the FAA’s broad terms. “[A] PAGA claim lies outside the FAA’s coverage
because it is not a dispute between an employer and an employee arising out of their
contractual relationship. It is a dispute between an employer and the state, which alleges
directly or through its agents—either the Agency or aggrieved employees—that the
employer has violated the Labor Code.” (Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 386-387.)
“[A] PAGA representative action necessarily means that this claim cannot be compelled
to arbitration based on an employee’s predispute arbitration agreement absent some
evidence that the state consented to the waiver of the right to bring the PAGA claim in
court.” (Correia v. NB Baker Electric, Inc. (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 602, 624-625
(Correia).) There is no evidence or argument that the state of California has consented to
arbitrate the PAGA claim in this case.

In Epic, the United States Supreme Court held that class action waivers in
arbitration agreements are enforceable. (Epic, supra, 138 S.Ct. at p. 1619.) The plaintiff
employee in that case was pursuing FLSA and California overtime claims on a class-wide
basis. (/d. at p. 1620.) Numerous courts have held that Iskanian survives Epic because
“the cause of action at issue in Epic differs fundamentally from a PAGA claim.”
(Correia, supra, 32 Cal.App.5th at p. 619.) “Although the Epic court reaffirmed the
broad preemptive scope of the Federal Arbitration Act [citation], Epic did not address the
specific issues before the Iskanian court involving a claim for civil penalties brought on
behalf of the government and the enforceability of an agreement barring a PAGA
representative action in any forum. We thus conclude the trial court properly ruled the
waiver of representative claims in any forum is unenforceable.” (/d. at p. 609; see
Contreras v. Superior Court (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 461, 471-472; Olson v. Lyft, Inc.
(2020) 56 Cal.App.5th 862, 872; Tanguilig v. Bloomingdale’s, Inc. (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th

665, 673.) We see no reason to diverge from clear California authority in this case.

App. 5a



1V. Whether Adolph Is Entitled to Assert PAGA Claims Against Uber Must Be Decided
by the Court, Not an Arbitrator

California cases uniformly hold that whether a plaintiff is an aggrieved
employee who may assert a PAGA claim is a matter to be decided by the court, not by an
arbitrator, even if the parties signed an arbitration agreement. In Provost v.
YourMechanic, Inc. (2020) 55 Cal.App.5th 982, the defendant company sought to require
the plaintiff to arbitrate whether he was an employee or an independent contractor before
proceeding with a representative PAGA claim, based on the parties’ arbitration
agreement. (/d. at p. 987.) The appellate court rejected the defendant company’s
argument: “[T]hreshold issues involving whether a plaintiff is an ‘aggrieved employee’
for purposes of a representative PAGA-only action cannot be split into individual
arbitrable and representative nonarbitrable components.” (/d. at p. 996.) The court also
held that, because the state is the real party in interest in a PAGA claim, such a claim
cannot be ordered to arbitration without the state’s consent, despite any arbitration
agreement between the nominal plaintiff and the defendant. (/d. at pp. 997-998.)

Contreras v. Superior Court, supra, 61 Cal.App.5th 461 reached the same
conclusion, holding that PAGA claims cannot be sent to arbitration without the state’s
consent (id. at p. 472), and that the preliminary question of whether the plaintiff is an
employee or an independent contractor must be decided by the court, not an arbitrator (id.
at pp. 473-475).

Uber argues these cases were decided improperly. Uber contends that
PAGA is not a true qui tam statute, and the state is not actually the real party in interest.
“‘Traditionally, the requirements for enforcement by a citizen in a qui tam action have
been (1) that the statute exacts a penalty; (2) that part of the penalty be paid to the
informer; and (3) that, in some way, the informer be authorized to bring suit to recover
the penalty.”” (Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 382.) The Iskanian court held that

although a portion of the penalty goes to all the employees affected by the employer’s
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violation rather than only to the “‘informer,”” a PAGA claim still meets all the elements
of a qui tam action. (/bid.) Uber cites Magadia v. Wal-Mart Associates, Inc. (9th Cir.
2021) 999 F.3d 668, 676, in which the Ninth Circuit held a PAGA claim is not a true qui
tam action. However, Magadia was addressing standing under Article III of the United
States Constitution, not the arbitrability of the status of an aggrieved employee, and it is
therefore not instructive here. We disagree that California courts have erred in
concluding that a PAGA claim is outside the FAA because it is not a dispute between an
employer and an employee arising out of an arbitration provision in the employment
agreement.

Uber also contends that Iskanian and the cases following it improperly
obstruct the FAA’s objective to promote arbitration. Uber asks this court to reconsider
those cases because the United States Supreme Court’s reasoning in Epic that arbitration
agreements must be enforced according to their terms (Epic, supra, 138 S.Ct. at p. 1619)
is “equally applicable” to the PAGA claim in the present action. Uber fails to note,
however, that its own arbitration provision treats PAGA claims differently than any other
type of claim. The arbitration provision in Uber’s agreement with Adolph purports to
waive all representative PAGA claims, gives the courts the exclusive jurisdiction to
consider whether the waiver is valid, and requires that any PAGA claims be resolved in
court and not in arbitration. Although the arbitration provision does not explicitly grant
to the courts the authority to determine whether a PAGA claimant is an aggrieved
employee, the provision’s retention of all other authority over a PAGA claim in the court
makes this a fair inference.

The issue whether a plaintiff’s status as an aggrieved employee of Uber
should be decided by the court or an arbitrator was decided against Uber in Rosales v.
Uber Technologies, Inc. (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 937. The court in Rosales relied on the
opinions in Provost v. YourMechanic, Inc., supra, 55 Cal.App.5th 982 and Contreras v.

Superior Court, supra, 61 Cal.App.5th 461, and held that Uber’s arguments did not
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compel the court to depart from those authorities. (Rosales v. Uber Technologies, Inc.,
supra, at p. 942.)

Uber cites several federal cases in support of its argument that the issue of
arbitrability should have been decided by an arbitrator, rather than the court. (See A/i v.
Vehi-Ship, LLC (N.D.Ill., Nov. 27,2017, No. 17 CV 02688) 2017 U.S.Dist. Lexis
194456; Richemond v. Uber Technologies, Inc. (S.D.Fla. 2017) 263 F.Supp.3d 1312,
1317; Lamour v. Uber Technologies, Inc. (S.D.Fla., Mar. 1, 2017, No. 1:16-CIV-21449-
Martinez/Goodman) 2017 U.S.Dist. Lexis 29706.) Uber also cites cases in which the
courts decided that issues of misclassification of an employee must be resolved before
substantive issues can be addressed. (See Johnston v. Uber Technologies, Inc. (N.D.Cal.,
Sep. 16, 2019, No. 16-cv-03134-ECM) U.S.Dist. Lexis 161256; Sakyi v. Estee Lauder
Companies, Inc. (D.D.C. 2018) 308 F.Supp.3d 366, 382; Ali v. Vehi-Ship, LLC, supra;
Lamour v. Uber Technologies, Inc., supra.) In addition to being counter to California
authority, these cases address the arbitrability and enforceability of an arbitration clause
against a claim under the federal National Labor Relations Act or other federal law, not
California’s PAGA.'

The United States Supreme Court heard arguments on March 30, 2022, in
the case of Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Angie Moriana, case no. 20-1573 (Viking). In

Viking, employee Moriana signed an arbitration provision before starting work for Viking

1 Uber also cites Mohamed v. Uber Technologies, Inc. (9th Cir. 2016) 848

F.3d 1201 for the proposition that the arbitration provision applies to the determination of
all arbitrability questions. But Uber fails to fully cite the case. The full quote (a part of
which is cited on page 34 of appellant’s opening brief), reads: “The 2014 Agreement
clearly and unmistakably delegated the question of arbitrability to the arbitrator under all
circumstances. Neither delegation provision was unconscionable. Thus, all of Plaintiffs’
challenges to the enforceability of the arbitration agreement, save Gillette’s challenge to
the enforceability of the PAGA waiver in the 2013 Agreement, should have been
adjudicated in the first instance by an arbitrator and not in court.” (/d. at p. 1208, italics
added.) That opinion also reads: “The question of arbitrability as to all but Gillette’s
PAGA claims was delegated to the arbitrator.” (/d. at p. 1206.)
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River Cruises. The provision required arbitration of any dispute arising out of her
employment, and prohibited class or representative actions or private attorney general
proceedings. Moriana later brought a single PAGA claim against Viking River Cruises;
the trial court denied Viking River Cruises’s petition to compel an individualized
arbitration, the appellate court affirmed, and the California Supreme Court denied a
petition for review. The question presented by the petition for writ of certiorari is:
“Whether the Federal Arbitration Act requires enforcement of a bilateral arbitration
agreement providing that an employee cannot raise representative claims, including under
PAGA.”

The Viking petition seemingly acknowledges how this court must rule in
the present case given the current state of the law: “The time is right for this Court to put
an end to this unfairness by reviewing and rejecting the Iskanian rule. The decision
below and its refusal to budge in light of Epic make clear that no matter how clearly this
Court underscores the importance of the FAA and enforcing parties’ agreements to
arbitrate bilaterally, the California courts will stick with Iskanian unless and until this
Court directs them otherwise. Only this Court can check California’s insistence that there
is something special about representative PAGA actions that places them outside the
scope of [AT&T Mobility LLC v.] Concepcion [(2011) 563 U.S. 333], outside the scope of
Epic, and outside the scope of the FAA.”

Unless and until the United States Supreme Court or the California
Supreme Court directly overrules it, the courts of this state must follow the rule of
Iskanian (Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455), which
establishes that the trial court did not err by concluding that the initial issue of whether
Adolph can pursue a PAGA claim as an aggrieved employee must be decided by the trial

court, not an arbitrator.
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DISPOSITION

The orders are affirmed. Respondent to recover costs on appeal.

O’LEARY, P. J.

WE CONCUR:

MOORE, J.

GOETHALS, J.
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ADOLPH v. UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
S274671

Opinion of the Court by Liu, J.

This case concerns a question of standing under the
Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (PAGA). (Lab. Code,
§ 2698 et seq.; all undesignated statutory references are to this
code.) Informed by findings of pervasive underenforcement of
many Labor Code provisions and “a shortage of government
resources to pursue enforcement,” the Legislature enacted
PAGA to create new civil penalties for Labor Code violations and
“‘to allow aggrieved employees, acting as private attorneys
general, to recover [those] penalties.”” (Iskanian v. CLS
Transportation Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 379
(Iskanian).)  Specifically, PAGA authorizes “an aggrieved
employee,” acting as a proxy or agent of the state Labor and
Workforce Development Agency (LWDA), to bring a civil action
against an employer “on behalf of himself or herself and other
current or former employees” to recover civil penalties for Labor
Code violations they have sustained. (§ 2699, subd. (a); see
Iskanian, at p. 380.)

In Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana (2022) 596 U.S.
__[142 S.Ct. 1906] (Viking River), the United States Supreme
Court considered a predispute employment contract with an
arbitration provision specifying that “in any arbitral proceeding,
the parties could not bring any dispute as a class, collective, or
representative PAGA action. It also contained a severability
clause specifying that if the waiver was found invalid, any class,
collective, representative, or PAGA action would presumptively
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be litigated in court. But under that severability clause, if any
‘portion’ of the waiver remained valid, it would be ‘enforced in
arbitration.”” (Id. at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1916].) In light of our
state law rule prohibiting wholesale waiver of PAGA claims
(Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 383), the high court construed
the severability clause to reflect the parties’ agreement to
arbitrate any alleged Labor Code violations personally
sustained by a PAGA plaintiff — so-called “individual” claims —
and held that the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) (9 U.S.C. § 1 et
seq.) compels enforcement of this agreement. (Viking River, at
pp. _ — [142 S.Ct. at pp. 1922—-1925].) In so holding, the high
court declared that the FAA “preempted” a separate state law
rule that “PAGA actions cannot be divided into individual and
non-individual claims” where the parties have agreed to
arbitrate individual claims. (Viking River, at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at
p. 1913].) For consistency, we use the terms “individual” and
“non-individual” claims in accordance with the high court’s

usage in Viking River.

The question here is whether an aggrieved employee who
has been compelled to arbitrate claims under PAGA that are
“premised on Labor Code violations actually sustained by” the
plaintiff (Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at
p. 1916]; see §§ 2698, 2699, subd. (a)) maintains statutory
standing to pursue “PAGA claims arising out of events involving
other employees” (Viking River, at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1916])
in court. We hold that the answer is yes. To have PAGA
standing, a plaintiff must be an “aggrieved employee” — that is,

>

(1) “someone ‘who was employed by the alleged violator’” and
(2) “‘against whom one or more of the alleged violations was
committed.”” (Kim v. Reins International California, Inc. (2020)

9 Cal.5th 73, 83, 84 (Kim), quoting § 2699, subd. (c).) Where a

2
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plaintiff has brought a PAGA action comprising individual and
non-individual claims, an order compelling arbitration of the
individual claims does not strip the plaintiff of standing as an
aggrieved employee to litigate claims on behalf of other
employees under PAGA.

I.

Plaintiff Erik Adolph worked as a driver for defendant
Uber Technologies, Inc. (Uber), delivering food to customers
through the company’s Uber Eats platform. As a condition of
his employment, Adolph was required to accept the technology
services agreement, and because he did not timely opt out, he
became bound by the arbitration provision in that agreement.
The arbitration provision requires Adolph to arbitrate, on an
individual basis only, almost all work-related claims he might
have against Uber.

With regard to PAGA actions, the agreement says: “To the
extent permitted by law, you and Company agree not to bring a
representative action on behalf of others under the [PAGA] in
any court or in arbitration. This waiver shall be referred to as
the ‘PAGA Waiver.”” The agreement also includes a severability
clause: “If the PAGA Waiver is found to be unenforceable or
unlawful for any reason, (1) the unenforceable provision shall be
severed from this Arbitration Provision; (2) severance of the
unenforceable provision shall have no impact whatsoever on the
Arbitration Provision or the Parties’ attempts to arbitrate any
remaining claims on an individual basis pursuant to the
Arbitration Provision; and (3) any representative actions
brought under the PAGA must be litigated in a civil court of

2

competent jurisdiction . . ..
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In October 2019, Adolph sued Uber in superior court,
alleging individual and class claims for relief under Labor Code
section 2802 and the Unfair Competition Law (UCL) (Bus. &
Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq.). Adolph claimed that Uber
misclassified him and other delivery drivers as independent
contractors rather than as employees and, as a result,
wrongfully failed to reimburse them for necessary business
expenses. In February 2020, Adolph amended his complaint to
add a claim for civil penalties under PAGA based on the same
theory of misclassification. In July 2020, the trial court granted
a motion by Uber to compel arbitration of Adolph’s individual

Labor Code claims and dismissed Adolph’s class action claims.

Subsequently, with the trial court’s permission, Adolph
filed his operative second amended complaint, which eliminated
his individual Labor Code claims and class claims and retained
only his PAGA claim for civil penalties. The trial court granted
Adolph’s request for a preliminary injunction, preventing
arbitration from proceeding. Uber filed a second motion to
compel arbitration of Adolph’s independent contractor status
and the enforceability of the arbitration agreement. The trial
court denied the motion. Uber filed separate appeals of the
injunction and the denial of the second motion to compel
arbitration.

The two appeals were consolidated, and the Court of
Appeal affirmed. (Adolph v. Uber Technologies, Inc. (Apr. 11,
2022, G059860, G060198) [nonpub. opn.] (Adolph).) Citing
Iskanian, the Court of Appeal held that the trial court properly
found that PAGA claims are not subject to arbitration, that an
agreement waiving the right to bring a claim on behalf of other
employees under PAGA violates public policy and 1is
unenforceable, and that “California case law is clear that the

4
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threshold issue of whether a plaintiff is an aggrieved employee
in a PAGA case is not subject to arbitration.” (Adolph, supra,
G059860, G060198.)

In May 2022, Uber filed a petition for review. Before
Adolph could file an answer, the United States Supreme Court
decided Viking River, which abrogated in part our decision in
Iskanian, as discussed further below. (Viking River, supra, 596
U.S. at pp. _ —  [142 S.Ct. at pp. 1923-1925].) Viking River
also considered the standing question at issue in this case. (Id.
at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1925].) We granted review to provide
guidance on statutory standing under PAGA.

II.

The Legislature enacted PAGA almost two decades ago in
response to widespread violations of the Labor Code and
significant underenforcement of those laws. (See Arias v.
Superior Ct. (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 980 (Arias); Assem. Com. on
Labor & Employment, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003—-2004
Reg. Sess.) as amended July 2, 2003, p. 3 (Assembly Labor
Committee Analysis).) Before PAGA’s enactment, tools for
enforcing the Labor Code were limited. Some statutes allowed
employees to sue their employers for damages resulting from
Labor Code violations such as unpaid wages. (Kim, supra, 9
Cal.5th at p. 80; Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 381.) Other
Labor Code violations were punishable only as criminal
misdemeanors, which local prosecutors tended not to prioritize.
(Iskanian, at p. 379.) Additionally, several statutes provided
civil penalties for Labor Code violations, but only state labor law
enforcement agencies could bring an action for civil penalties
and those agencies lacked sufficient enforcement resources.
(Ibid.; Assembly Labor Committee Analysis, at pp. 3—4.)
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To address these shortcomings, the Legislature enacted
PAGA to create new civil penalties for various Labor Code

({33

violations and “ ‘to allow aggrieved employees, acting as private

attorneys general, to recover [those] penalties.”” (Iskanian,
supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 379.) An employee who brings a PAGA
action to recover civil penalties acts “ ‘as the proxy or agent’” of
the state. (Iskanian, at p. 380; see § 2699, subd. (a).) “PAGA is
designed primarily to benefit the general public, not the party
bringing the action.” (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 81.) Penalties
recovered are dedicated largely “to public use ... instead of
being awarded entirely to a private plaintiff.” (Assem. Com. on
Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003—2004 Reg. Sess.)
as amended May 12, 2003, p. 5 (Assembly Judiciary Committee
Analysis); see § 2699, subd. (1) [75% of civil penalties go to the

LWDA, 25% go to aggrieved employees].)

To have standing to bring a PAGA action, a plaintiff must
be an “aggrieved employee,” which the statute defines as “any
person who was employed by the alleged violator and against
whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed.”
(§ 2699, subd. (c).) An aggrieved employee becomes deputized to
prosecute Labor Code violations once he or she has complied
with PAGA’s notice requirements. (§ 2699.3, subd. (a).) Before
filing suit, the aggrieved employee “must notify the employer
and the [LWDA] of the specific labor violations alleged, along
with the facts and theories supporting the claim.” (Kim, supra,
9 Cal.5th at p. 81, citing § 2699.3, subd. (a)(1)(A).) “If the agency
does not investigate, does not issue a citation, or fails to respond
to the notice within 65 days, the employee may sue.” (Kim, at
p. 81, citing § 2699.3, subd. (a)(2).) “The notice requirement
allows the relevant state agency ‘to decide whether to allocate
scarce resources to an investigation’” (Kim, at p. 81) or instead

6
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to deputize the aggrieved employee to pursue sanctions on the
state’s behalf. Once deputized, the aggrieved employee has
authority to “seek any civil penalties the state can.” (ZB, N.A.
v. Superior Court (2019) 8 Cal.5th 175, 185 (ZB).)

A PAGA claim for civil penalties “‘“is fundamentally a
law enforcement action.”’” (ZB, supra, 8 Cal.5th at p. 185.)
“The ‘government entity on whose behalf the plaintiff files suit
1s ... the real party in interest.’” (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at
p. 81.) PAGA’s default civil penalties are thus calculated “ ‘to
punish the employer’ for wrongdoing” (ZB, at p. 185) and “ ‘to
deter violations’ ” (Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 379) rather
than “compensate employees for actual losses incurred” (ZB, at
p. 186). PAGA claims are subject to a one-year statute of
limitations. (Code Civ. Proc., § 340, subd. (a).) The LWDA must
be provided with prior notice of any proposed settlement, and
any final settlement requires approval by the trial court.
(§ 2699, subd. (/)(2).) “Because an aggrieved employee’s action
under [PAGA] functions as a substitute for an action brought by
the government itself, a judgment in that action binds all those,
including nonparty aggrieved employees, who would be bound

by a judgment in an action brought by the government.” (Arias,
supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 986.)

In Iskanian, we held that a predispute categorical waiver
of the right to bring a PAGA action is unenforceable (Iskanian,
supra, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 382—383) — a rule that Viking River left
undisturbed (see Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. at pp. _ — , _ —
_[142 S.Ct. at pp. 1922—-1923, 1924-1925] [the FAA does not
preempt this rule]). We explained that such waivers violate
California public policy and Civil Code sections 1668 and 3513.
(Iskanian, at pp.383-384, quoting Civ. Code, § 1668

[prohibiting contractual waivers, whether “direct[] or indirect[],”
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that “exempt any one from responsibility for his own ...
violation of law”] and Civ. Code, § 3513 [“a law established for a

public reason cannot be contravened by a private agreement”].)

In addition, Iskanian held unenforceable an agreement
that, while providing for arbitration of alleged Labor Code
violations sustained by the plaintiff employee (what Viking
River called individual claims), compels waiver of claims on
behalf of other employees (i.e., non-individual claims).
(Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 384; see Viking River, supra,
596 U.S. at p.__ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1916].) We explained that
“whether or not an individual claim is permissible under the
PAGA, a prohibition of representative [i.e., non-individual]
claims frustrates the PAGA’s objectives.” (Iskanian, at p. 384;
see 1bid. [“[W]here . .. an employment agreement compels the
waiver of representative claims under the PAGA, it is contrary
to public policy and unenforceable as a matter of state law.”].)
Viking River also left this rule intact. (Viking River, atp. __ [142
S.Ct. at p. 1925] [“Under our holding in this case [requiring
enforcement of agreements to arbitrate individual claims,
Moriana’s non-individual] claims may not be dismissed simply
because they are ‘representative.” Iskanian’s rule remains valid
to that extent.”]; see Nickson v. Shemran, Inc. (2023) 90
Cal.App.5th 121, 306 (Nickson) [Viking River did not disturb
Iskanian’s rule that an arbitration agreement purporting to
waive an employee’s non-individual claims is unenforceable as
a matter of state law]; Seifu v. Lyft, Inc. (2023) 89 Cal.App.5th
1129, 1139 (Seifu) [same]; Piplack v. In-N-Out Burgers (2023) 88
Cal.App.5th 1281, 1288 (Piplack) [same]; Gregg v. Uber
Technologies, Inc. (2023) 89 Cal.App.5th 786, 797 (Gregg)
[same]; Mills v. Facility Solutions Group, Inc. (2022) 84
Cal.App.5th 1035, 1062—-1064 [same].)
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Following our decision in Iskanian, various courts held
that employers may not require employees to “split” PAGA
actions in a manner that puts individual and non-individual
components of a PAGA claim into bifurcated proceedings. (See,
e.g., Perez v. U-Haul Co. of California (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 408,
420-421; Williams v. Superior Court (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th
642, 649.) Viking River held that “the FAA preempts the rule of
Iskanian insofar as it precludes division of PAGA actions into
individual and non-individual claims through an agreement to
arbitrate.” (Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at
p. 1924].) “The ‘principal purpose’ of the FAA is to ‘ensur[e] that
private arbitration agreements are enforced according to their
terms.”” (AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S.
333, 344.) The high court explained that an anti-splitting rule
“unduly circumscribes the freedom of parties to determine ‘the
1ssues subject to arbitration’ and ‘the rules by which they will
arbitrate,” [citation], and does so in a way that violates the
fundamental principle that ‘arbitration is a matter of consent.””
(Viking River, at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1923].) Requiring parties
to adjudicate a PAGA action entirely in one proceeding, the high
court said, “compels parties to either go along with an
arbitration in which the range of issues under consideration is
determined by coercion rather than consent, or else forgo
arbitration altogether. Either way, the parties are coerced into
giving up a right they enjoy under the FAA.” (Viking River, at
p. _ [142 S.Ct. at p.1924].) Thus, Viking River requires
enforcement of agreements to arbitrate a PAGA plaintiff’s
individual claims if the agreement is covered by the FAA.

II1.

Against this backdrop, we consider whether an aggrieved
employee who has been compelled to arbitrate individual claims
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“premised on Labor Code violations actually sustained by” the
plaintiff (Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at
p. 1916]; see Lab. Code, § 2699, subd. (a)) maintains statutory
standing to pursue non-individual “PAGA claims arising out of
events involving other employees” (Viking River, at p. __ [142
S.Ct. at p. 1916]) in court.

The high court concluded that a PAGA plaintiff loses
standing in this situation: “[A]s we see it, PAGA provides no
mechanism to enable a court to adjudicate non-individual PAGA
claims once an individual claim has been committed to a
separate proceeding. Under PAGA’s standing requirement, a
plaintiff can maintain non-individual PAGA claims in an action
only by virtue of also maintaining an individual claim in that
action. See Cal. Lab. Code Ann. §§ 2699(a), (¢). When an
employee’s own dispute is pared away from a PAGA action, the
employee is no different from a member of the general public,
and PAGA does not allow such persons to maintain suit. See
Kim, 9 Cal.5th at 90 (PAGA’s standing requirement was meant
to be a departure from the “general public” ... standing
originally allowed’ under other California statutes). As a result,
Moriana lacks statutory standing to continue to maintain her
non-individual claims in court, and the correct course is to
dismiss her remaining claims.” (Viking River, supra, 596 U.S.
at p. __ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1925].)

Because “[t]he highest court of each State . . . remains ‘the
final arbiter of what is state law’ ” (Montana v. Wyoming (2011)
563 U.S. 368, 378, fn. 5), we are not bound by the high court’s
interpretation of California law. (See Viking River, supra, 596
U.S. atpp. _ —  [142 S.Ct. at p. 1925] (conc. opn. of Sotomayor,
J.) [“Of course, if this Court’s understanding of state law is

wrong, California courts, in an appropriate case, will have the
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last word.”].) And although the high court’s interpretations may
serve as persuasive authority in cases involving a parallel
federal constitutional provision or statutory scheme (cf., e.g.,
Raven v. Deukmejian (1990) 52 Cal.3d 336, 353; People v.
Teresinski (1982) 30 Cal.3d 822, 835—-836), Viking River does not

interpret any federal provision or statute similar to PAGA.

Where, as here, a cause of action is based on a state
statute, standing is a matter of statutory interpretation. (Kim,
supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 83.) “We review questions of statutory
construction de novo.” (California Building Industry Assn. v.
State Water Resources Control Bd. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1032, 1041.)

A.

“In construing a statute, our task is to ascertain the intent
of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the
enactment.” (Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th
478, 487.) We look first to “the words of the statute, which are
the most reliable indications of the Legislature’s intent.” (Ibid.)
As noted, section 2699, subdivision (c) defines “aggrieved
employee,” and we have explained that “[t]he plain language of
section 2699(c) has only two requirements for PAGA standing.”
(Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 83.) The plaintiff must allege that
he or she is (1) “someone ‘who was employed by the alleged

5> [{3N3

violator’” and (2) someone “‘against whom one or more of the
alleged violations was committed.”” (Id. at pp. 83—84, quoting

§ 2699, subd. (c).)

In Kim, we declined to impose additional requirements not
found in the statute. (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at pp. 84-91.) The
plaintiff, Kim, sued his employer, alleging individual claims for
damages and a PAGA claim for civil penalties. (Kim, at p. 82.)
Kim settled and dismissed the individual claims for damages,
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proceeding only with the PAGA claim. (Kim, at p. 82.) The
employer conceded that Kim had PAGA standing when he filed
suit but argued that Kim’s “standing somehow ended” once his
individual claims settled. (Kim, at p. 84.) According to the
employer, PAGA standing is premised on an unredressed injury,
and because Kim received compensation for his injury, he no

longer had the status of an “aggrieved employee.” (Kim, at
p. 84.)

We rejected this argument, finding it inconsistent with the
statutory language in several respects. (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th
at pp. 83-86.) First, “[t]he Legislature defined PAGA standing
in terms of violations . ... Kim became an aggrieved employee,
and had PAGA standing, when one or more Labor Code
violations were committed against him,” and “[s]ettlement did
not nullify these violations. The remedy for a Labor Code
violation, through settlement or other means, is distinct from
the fact of the violation itself,” and only the latter is required for
PAGA standing. (Kim, at p. 84.) Second, nothing in the text of
the statute requires the plaintiff to have an unredressed injury;
reading such a requirement into the statute would be “at odds
with the statutory definition.” (Id. at p. 85.) Third, allowing
post-violation events to strip an aggrieved employee of the
ability to pursue a PAGA claim “would add an expiration
element to the statutory definition of standing.” (Kim, at p. 85.)
Although Uber says Kim is distinguishable because the plaintiff
had settled only individual claims for damages and not any
claim for civil penalties under PAGA, this circumstance played
no role in Kim’s reasoning. Kim made clear that only the fact of
a violation is required to confer standing.

The Court of Appeal in Johnson v. Maxim Healthcare
Services, Inc. (2021) 66 Cal.App.5th 924 (Johnson) similarly
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declined to read into the statute a standing requirement not
supported by its language. There, a company required its
workers to sign unlawful noncompete agreements. (Id. at
p. 927.) The Labor Code violations sustained by the plaintiff
were time-barred, and the employer argued that the plaintiff
therefore did not have PAGA standing. (Johnson, at p. 929.)
Relying on Kim, the court rejected this argument and held that
the plaintiff had standing to pursue her PAGA claim because
she satisfied the statutory definition of an *‘aggrieved
employee.”” (Johnson, at p. 930.) The fact that the plaintiff’s
“individual claim may be time-barred does not nullify the
alleged Labor Code violations nor strip [the plaintiff] of her

standing to pursue PAGA remedies.” (Johnson, at p. 930.)

As Kim and Johnson make clear, a worker becomes an
“aggrieved employee” with standing to litigate claims on behalf
of fellow employees upon sustaining a Labor Code violation
committed by his or her employer. (See Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th
at pp. 84-85; Johnson, supra, 66 Cal.App.5th at p. 930; § 2699,
subd. (c).) Standing under PAGA is not affected by enforcement
of an agreement to adjudicate a plaintiff’s individual claim in
another forum. Arbitrating a PAGA plaintiff’s individual claim
does not nullify the fact of the violation or extinguish the
plaintiff’s status as an aggrieved employee, any more than the
time-barring of remedies did in Johnson or the settlement of the
individual damages claims did in Kim. (See Kim, at pp. 84-85;
Johnson, at p. 930.) The operative complaint alleges that
Adolph experienced Labor Code violations while driving for
Uber. Under Kim, Adolph’s allegations that Labor Code
violations were committed against him while he was employed
by Uber suffice to confer standing to bring a PAGA action.
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B.

Five recent Court of Appeal opinions have reached the
same conclusion. (Galarsa v. Dolgen California, LLC (2023) 88
Cal.App.5th 639, 653 (Galarsa) [“[A] plaintiffs PAGA standing
does not evaporate when an employer chooses to enforce an
arbitration agreement.”]; Seifu, supra, 89 Cal.App.5th at p. 1134
[“[A] plaintiff is not stripped of standing to pursue nonindividual
PAGA claims simply because his or her individual PAGA claim
1s compelled to arbitration.”]; Piplack, supra, 88 Cal.App.5th at
p. 1291 [“[P]aring away the plaintiff’s individual claims does not
deprive the plaintiff of standing to pursue representative claims
under PAGA . . . .”]; Gregg, supra, 89 Cal.App.5th at p. 792
[“[Ulnder California law, Gregg is not stripped of standing to
pursue his nonindividual claims in court simply because his
individual claim must be arbitrated.”]; Nickson, supra, 90
Cal.App.5th at pp. 134-135 [“Nickson has standing to litigate
nonindividual PAGA claims in the superior court
notwithstanding his agreement to arbitrate individual PAGA
claims.”].) This unanimity is unsurprising because our reading
of PAGA’s standing requirements not only follows from the
statute’s text but also aligns with its purpose and legislative

history.

“The Legislature’s sole purpose in enacting PAGA was ‘to
augment the limited enforcement capability of the [LWDA] by
empowering employees to enforce the Labor Code as
representatives of the Agency.”” (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 86,
quoting Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 383.) To this end, “the
Legislature conferred fairly broad standing on all plaintiffs who
were employed by the violator and subjected to at least one
alleged violation.” (Kim, at p. 91.) A narrower construction of
PAGA standing would “thwart the Legislature’s clear intent to
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deputize employees to pursue sanctions on the state’s behalf.”
(Kim, at p. 91; see Williams v. Superior Court (2017) 3 Cal.5th
531, 548 [“Hurdles that impede the effective prosecution of
representative PAGA actions undermine the Legislature’s
objectives.”]; Galarsa, supra, 88 Cal.App.5th at p. 653
[“Revoking an employee’s standing as to [non-individual] claims
would ‘severely curtail[]] PAGA’s availability to police Labor
Code violations.” [(Kim, at p. 91.)]"]; see also Kim, at p. 83
[“Considering the remedial nature of legislation meant to
protect employees, we construe PAGA’s provisions broadly, in
favor of this protection.”].)

The centerpiece of PAGA’s enforcement scheme is the
ability of a plaintiff employee to prosecute numerous Labor Code
violations committed by an employer and to seek civil penalties
corresponding to those violations. (Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th
at p. 384; Assembly Judiciary Committee Analysis, supra, at
p. 4.) The Legislature enacted PAGA on the premise that Labor
Code violations sustained by the plaintiff employee are often
only a fraction of the violations committed by an employer that
1s engaged in unlawful workplace practices. (Iskanian, at
p. 384.) As we explained in Kim, “PAGA standing is not
inextricably linked to the plaintiff’'s own injury. Employees who
were subjected to at least one unlawful practice have standing
to serve as PAGA representatives even if they did not personally
experience each and every alleged violation. (§ 2699(c).) This
expansive approach to standing serves the state’s interest in
vigorous enforcement.” (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 85.) An
interpretation of the statute that impedes an employee’s ability
to prosecute his or her employer’s violations committed against
other employees would undermine PAGA’s purpose of
augmenting enforcement of the Labor Code. (Kim, at p. 86.)
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In enacting PAGA, the Legislature also expressed an
intent to remedy the LWDA’s long-standing funding
deficiencies. (See, e.g., Assembly Judiciary Committee Analysis,
supra, at p. 4 [“ ‘SB 796 helps generate revenues to the state at

b

a time when we need them.””].) Seventy-five percent of civil
penalties recovered in PAGA actions are statutorily allocated to
the state to help fund the LWDA in carrying out its regulatory
responsibilities related to covered employers, without passing
those costs on to taxpayers or diverting funds from other
priorities. (§ 2699, subd. (1).) Narrowing PAGA standing in the
manner Uber urges would likely reduce state revenues and

Increase state costs of enforcement.

In sum, where a plaintiff has filed a PAGA action
comprised of individual and non-individual claims, an order
compelling arbitration of individual claims does not strip the
plaintiff of standing to litigate non-individual claims in court.
This “is the interpretation of PAGA that best effectuates the
statute’s purpose, which 1is ‘to ensure effective code
enforcement.”” (Galarsa, supra, 88 Cal.App.5th at p. 654,
quoting Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 87.)

IV.

Uber makes several arguments in urging that a PAGA
plaintiff loses standing to litigate non-individual claims in court
when the plaintiff’s individual claims are subject to arbitration.
None is persuasive.

A.

First, Uber contends that unless Adolph’s non-individual
claims are dismissed, his PAGA action will run afoul of Viking
River because he will be permitted to relitigate whether he is an
aggrieved employee in court to establish standing even if he has
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agreed to resolve that issue in arbitration as part of his
individual PAGA claim.

In response, Adolph explains that his PAGA action could
proceed in the following manner if he were ordered to arbitrate
his individual PAGA claim: First, the trial court may exercise
its discretion to stay the non-individual claims pending the
outcome of the arbitration pursuant to section 1281.4 of the
Code of Civil Procedure. Following the arbitrator’s decision, any
party may petition the court to confirm or vacate the arbitration
award under section 1285 of the Code of Civil Procedure. If the
arbitrator determines that Adolph is an aggrieved employee in
the process of adjudicating his individual PAGA claim, that
determination, if confirmed and reduced to a final judgment
(Code Civ. Proc., § 1287.4), would be binding on the court, and
Adolph would continue to have standing to litigate his non-
individual claims. If the arbitrator determines that Adolph is
not an aggrieved employee and the court confirms that
determination and reduces it to a final judgment, the court
would give effect to that finding, and Adolph could no longer
prosecute his non-individual claims due to lack of standing. (See
Rocha v. U-Haul Co. of California (2023) 88 Cal.App.5th 65, 76—
82.)

Uber makes no convincing argument why this manner of
proceeding would be impractical or would require relitigating
Adolph’s status as an aggrieved employee in the context of his
non-individual claims, and we see no basis for Uber’s concern.
In any event, Viking River makes clear that in cases where the
FAA applies, no such relitigation may occur. (Viking River,
supra, 596 U.S. at pp. _ —  [142 S.Ct. at pp. 1923-1925].)
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B.

Next, Uber contends that bifurcating individual and non-
individual components of a PAGA claim into arbitration and court
proceedings has the effect of severing the two components into
separate and distinct actions, and each of the resulting two
actions must independently satisfy PAGA’s standing
requirements. Because the plaintiff’s standalone action for non-
individual claims no longer seeks penalties for Labor Code
violations sustained by the plaintiff, Uber says, the plaintiff
cannot satisfy PAGA’s standing requirements.

In urging this view, Uber relies on cases interpreting a
long-superseded statute, the pre-1971 version of section 1048 of
the Code of Civil Procedure, which provided that “[a]n action
may be severed ... in the discretion of the court, whenever it
can be done without prejudice to a substantial right.” Uber does
not explain why pursuing some remedies in arbitration and
others in court requires the PAGA action to be treated like an
action severed under that statute. Moreover, because former
section 1048 does not authorize severance that would result in
“prejudice to a substantial right,” it is doubtful the statute would
apply here.

Nothing in PAGA or any other relevant statute suggests
that arbitrating individual claims effects a severance. When a
case includes arbitrable and nonarbitrable issues, the issues
may be adjudicated in different forums while remaining part of
the same action. Code of Civil Procedure section 1281.4 states
that upon “order[ing] arbitration of a controversy which is an
issue involved in an action,” the court should “stay the action.”
It further provides that “[i]f the issue which is the controversy
subject to arbitration is severable, the stay may be with respect
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to that issue only.” Section 1281.4 does not contemplate that
the compelled arbitration of an issue in controversy in the action
1s a separate action. The statute makes clear that the cause
remains one action, parts of which may be stayed pending
completion of the arbitration. (See Cuevas v. Truline Corp.
(2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 56, 61 [citing Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.4
in holding that plaintiffs did not “split a cause of action into
multiple lawsuits” by “fil[ing] one complaint in which they sued
everyone they believed responsible for the traffic accident” and
then “arbitrat[ing] their claims against some, but not all, of the
defendants”].)

Indeed, it 1s a regular and accepted feature of litigation
governed by the FAA that the arbitration of some issues does
not sever those issues from the remainder of the lawsuit. The
high court has long recognized that the FAA “requires piecemeal
resolution [of related disputes in different forums] when
necessary to give effect to an arbitration agreement.” (Moses H.
Cone Hospital v. Mercury Constr. Corp. (1983) 460 U.S. 1, 20.)
In Dean Witter Reynolds Inc. v. Byrd (1985) 470 U.S. 213, 217,
the high court held that the FAA requires arbitrable claims to
be compelled to arbitration “even where the result would be the
possibly inefficient maintenance of separate proceedings in
different forums.” Viking River reiterated that parties may opt
for arbitration procedures that depart from standard liberal
rules of claim joinder, “[a]Jnd that is true even if bifurcated
proceedings are an inevitable result.” (Viking River, supra, 596
U.S. at p.__ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1923] [citing Dean Witter and
Moses H. Cone Hospital].) When an action includes arbitrable
and nonarbitrable components, the resulting bifurcated
proceedings are not severed from one another; rather, the court
may “stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been
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had in accordance with the terms of the agreement.” (9 U.S.C.
§ 3; see Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.4.) In McGill v Citibank, N.A.
(2017) 2 Cal.5th 945, 966, we explained that this principle
extends to “piecemeal litigation of ‘arbitrable and inarbitrable

b

remedies derived from the same statutory claim.

Further, Uber’s interpretation runs counter to the
statutory scheme. (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 87.) PAGA was
designed to authorize aggrieved employees to pursue
enforcement actions on behalf of themselves and their current
and former coworkers. (§ 2699, subd. (a).) Under Uber’s
reading, any time an aggrieved employee has signed a
predispute agreement to arbitrate individual claims, he or she
would no longer be able to bring suit “on behalf of himself or
herself and other current or former employees.” (Ibid., italics
added.) Not only is this interpretation at odds with the language
and purpose of the statute, but it would also seriously impair
the state’s ability to collect and distribute civil penalties under
the provisions of the statute. (See § 2699, subds. (1), (H)(2)
[employers are penalized per violation for each aggrieved
employee, and most of the penalties go to the state].) As noted,
Viking River left intact Iskanian’s rule against agreements that
compel waiver of non-individual claims. (Viking River, at p. __
[142 S.Ct. at p. 1925]; see Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 384.)

C.

Uber also argues that PAGA contains a third standing
requirement — the action must “be . . . brought by an aggrieved
employee on behalf of himself or herself and other current or
former employees” (§ 2699, subd. (a)) — and that Adolph cannot
satisfy this requirement with respect to non-individual claims
upon being compelled to arbitrate individual claims.
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But even if we were to agree with Uber’s reading of the
statute, Adolph would have standing. Adolph filed a PAGA
complaint seeking recovery “on behalf of himself . .. and other
current or former employees.” (§ 2699, subd. (a).) “Even though
Viking [River] requires the trial court to bifurcate and order
individual PAGA claims to arbitration when an appropriate
arbitration agreement exists, the individual PAGA claims in
arbitration remain part of the same lawsuit as the
representative claims remaining in court. Thus, plaintiffs are
pursuing a single PAGA action ‘on behalf of [themselves] and
other current or former employees,” albeit across two fora.”
(Piplack, supra, 88 Cal. App.5th at p. 1292.)

D.

Next, Uber contends that a PAGA plaintiff must have a
“financial stake in the outcome of the case” and that if an
arbitrator grants an award to the plaintiff based on his or her
personally sustained violations, the plaintiff loses standing to
litigate non-individual claims because he or she has no financial
stake in those claims.

For purposes of standing, however, the statute does not
require a PAGA plaintiff who has alleged one or more personally
sustained violations to seek civil penalties for those violations in
the same forum as the litigation of non-individual claims. As
the Attorney General observes in his amicus curiae brief, “it is
not the promise of economic recovery — in court or elsewhere —
that gives an aggrieved employee standing to pursue PAGA
claims based on violations committed against other workers.”
We agree with Adolph that “it is plaintiff's status as an
aggrieved employee, not the redressability of any injury the
plaintiff may have suffered, that determines the availability of
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PAGA standing.” The Legislature clearly delineated PAGA’s
standing requirements, and “‘“‘[w]here the words of the
statute are clear, we may not add to or alter them to accomplish
a purpose that does not appear on the face of the statute or from
its legislative history.””’” (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 85.)

We also note that a PAGA plaintiff compelled to arbitrate
individual claims may have a personal stake in the litigation of
non-individual claims. For instance, PAGA has a provision for
recovery of attorney’s fees and costs. (§ 2699, subd. (g)(1).) This
provision may help plaintiffs secure representation by enticing
attorneys to take cases they might not have if limited to

recovering fees and costs for individual claims alone.
E.

Uber further argues that a PAGA plaintiff, upon
arbitrating personally sustained Labor Code violations, stands
in no different position than a member of the general public with
regard to non-individual claims. “General public” standing once
existed under the UCL and allowed individuals with no ties to
the unlawful conduct to bring suit. (Kim, supra, 9 Cal.5th at
p. 90.) In order to curb abusive litigation, the Legislature
designed PAGA standing to be narrower than general public
standing. (Kim, at p.90.) An “aggrieved employee” under
PAGA is not merely a member of the general public; an
“aggrieved employee” is an individual who worked for the
alleged violator and personally sustained at least one Labor
Code violation. (§ 2699, subd. (c); see Kim, at p. 90, quoting Sen.
Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 796 (2003—2004
Reg. Sess.) as amended Apr. 22, 2003, p. 7.) An employee who
has met these requirements upon bringing a PAGA action does
not lose standing to litigate non-individual claims by virtue of
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being compelled to arbitrate individual claims. This is true even
if the employee obtains redress for individual claims in
arbitration. (See Kim, at p. 84.)

F.

Uber also cites a number of authorities, but none supports
its position. In Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-
CIO v. Superior Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 993, 1005, we held that
unions do not have standing under PAGA because they are “not
employees” and therefore “cannot satisfy the express standing
requirements of [PAGA].” Our rejection of associational
standing under PAGA has no bearing on the question here. In
Robinson v. Southern Counties Oil Co. (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th
476, the court held that a plaintiff did not have standing when
he brought a PAGA action “based on violations alleged to have
occurred after ... [he] was no longer employed by [the
defendant].” (Id. at p.484.) There, the plaintiff “was not
affected by any of the alleged violations” at issue in the case.
(Ibid.) In this case, the operative complaint alleges that Adolph
was employed by Uber and personally sustained one or more
Labor Code violations committed by Uber during the time period
applicable to his PAGA action.

Uber also relies on Californians for Disability Rights v.
Mervyn’s, LLC (2006) 39 Cal.4th 223, where we said that “[f]or
a lawsuit properly to be allowed to continue, standing must exist
at all times until judgment is entered and not just on the date
the complaint is filed.” (Id. at pp. 232—233.) Our holding today
1s consistent with Mervyn’s. As we explained in Kim, the
question of standing is governed by the terms of PAGA. Because
a single action may still be maintained when issues comprising the

action have been bifurcated into judicial and arbitral forums, the
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relevant statutory standing requirements are met “on the date the
complaint i1s filed” and thereafter, regardless of whether an
aggrieved employee’s individual claims have been sent to

arbitration. (Mervyn’s, at p. 233.)
G.

Finally, Uber and amicus curiae United States Chamber
of Commerce suggest that a PAGA plaintiff subject to an
arbitration agreement breaches that agreement by filing suit in
court. But if a defendant believes arbitration is required, it is
“[t]he party seeking arbitration [that] bears the burden of
proving the existence of an arbitration agreement” in court.
(Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Market Development
(US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 236.) And even where a
plaintiff concedes the applicability of an arbitration agreement,
the plaintiff does not breach the agreement by alleging in a
complaint that one or more violations were committed against
the plaintiff for the purpose of meeting PAGA’s standing
requirements.

Several amici curiae have also argued that we should
narrow the statute’s standing requirements in order to curb
alleged abuses of PAGA. These arguments are best directed to
the Legislature, which may amend the statute to limit PAGA
enforcement if it chooses. Our task is to give effect to the statute
as we find it. Under the statute, a plaintiff who files a PAGA
action with individual and non-individual claims does not lose
standing to litigate the non-individual claims in court simply
because the individual claims have been ordered to arbitration.

CONCLUSION

We reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal and
remand the case for further proceedings consistent with this
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opinion. We limited our review to the question of PAGA
standing and express no view on the parties’ arguments
regarding the proper interpretation of the arbitration
agreement.

LIU, J.

We Concur:

GUERRERO, C. J.
CORRIGAN, J.
KRUGER, J.
GROBAN, J.
JENKINS, J.
EVANS, J.
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Erik Adolph sued Uber Technologies, Inc. (Uber), which owned the meal
delivery service for which Adolph worked, for various Labor Code violations, including
claims under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, Labor Code section
2698 et seq. (PAGA). The first time this case was before us, we affirmed the trial court’s
orders (1) granting Adolph’s motion for a preliminary injunction to prevent an arbitration
initiated by Uber, and (2) denying Uber’s petition to compel arbitration of Adolph’s sole
remaining claim under PAGA. Our decision was based primarily on clear California law
that PAGA claims were not subject to arbitration (Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los
Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 384 (Iskanian), and could not be split into
individual and non-individual claims.

Following the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Viking River
Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana (2022) 596 U.S. _ [142 S.Ct. 1906] (Viking River), which
abrogated, in part, the holding in Iskanian, the California Supreme Court held Adolph
still had standing to pursue the non-individual PAGA claims in court. (4dolph v. Uber
Technologies, Inc. (2023) 14 Cal.5th 1104, 1119 (Adolph).) The California Supreme
Court reversed this court’s opinion and remanded the matter to us to conduct further
proceedings consistent with its opinion.

We now vacate our previous decision. Having considered the issues on
appeal in light of the recent decisions of the United States and California Supreme
Courts, we reverse the trial court’s orders.

FACTS

Adolph was a driver for UberEATS, a meal delivery service. Uber owned
the company through which drivers are connected with those in need of UberEATS’
services. Before he began making deliveries for UberEATS in March 2019, Adolph
created an account to use the UberEATS app. In creating his account, Adolph accepted
an arbitration agreement that was “governed by the Federal Arbitration Act” and “applies

to any dispute, past, present or future, arising out of or related to this Agreement or
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formation or termination of the Agreement and survives after the Agreement terminates.”
The parties do not dispute the terms of the arbitration agreement or that Adolph accepted
its terms.

The arbitration agreement contains a waiver of all non-individual PAGA
claims, whether in court or in arbitration. It also provides that the validity of the PAGA
waiver may only be resolved in court, not through arbitration, and that if the PAGA
waiver is found to be unenforceable, the litigation of PAGA claims must be stayed
pending the outcome of arbitrable individual claims.

In October 2019, Adolph filed a putative class action complaint against
Uber, claiming Uber had misclassified employees as independent contractors, and
therefore failed to reimburse the class members for necessary work expenses. The
complaint alleged two causes of action: (1) violation of Labor Code section 2802, and
(2) violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200. Uber filed a petition to
compel arbitration of Adolph’s individual claims, strike the class action allegations, and
stay all court proceedings. The parties stipulated to allow Adolph to file a first amended
complaint adding a third cause of action for civil penalties under PAGA.

After the first amended complaint was filed, Uber filed a renewed petition
to compel arbitration. The trial court granted the petition compelling arbitration of
Adolph’s individual claims in the first two causes of action, found the class claims on the
first two causes of action were waived, and stayed the PAGA cause of action.

Adolph then filed a motion for leave to file a second amended complaint,
which would include only the PAGA cause of action, and a motion for preliminary
injunction to prevent the arbitration from proceeding. The trial court granted both
motions. Uber filed a notice of appeal from the order granting the preliminary injunction,
appeal No. G059860.

Adolph filed the second amended complaint alleging a single cause of

action under PAGA. Uber filed a petition to compel arbitration of Adolph’s independent
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contractor status and of all issues of enforceability or arbitrability. The petition requested
the PAGA claim be stayed pending arbitration on the threshold issue of whether Adolph
was an aggrieved employee entitled to assert it. Adolph both opposed and moved to
strike the petition. The trial court denied the petition to compel arbitration, and Uber
filed a notice of appeal, appeal No. G060198.

This court granted the parties’ joint motion to consolidate appeal
Nos. G059860 and G060198. In a nonpublished opinion, we affirmed the trial court’s
orders, citing Iskanian, supra, 59 Cal.4th 348, and holding the PAGA claims were not
subject to arbitration, the agreement purportedly waiving the right to bring a claim on
behalf of others under PAGA violated public policy, and the issue of whether a plaintiff
is an aggrieved employee under PAGA was not subject to arbitration. (Adolph v. Uber
Technologies, Inc. (Apr. 11, 2022, G059860, G060198) [nonpub. opn.], review granted
July 20, 2022, S74671.)

Uber filed a petition for review. Soon thereafter, the United States
Supreme Court issued its opinion in Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. _ [142 S.Ct. 1906],
which abrogated, in part, the holding in Iskanian: “[T]he FAA [Federal Arbitration Act]
preempts the rule of Iskanian insofar as it precludes division of PAGA actions into
individual and non-individual claims through an agreement to arbitrate.” (Viking River,
supra, 596 U.S.at _ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1924].)

The California Supreme Court granted review of this case to determine
“whether an aggrieved employee who has been compelled to arbitrate individual claims
‘premised on Labor Code violations actually sustained by’ the plaintiff [citations]
maintains statutory standing to pursue non-individual ‘PAGA claims arising out of events
involving other employees’ [citation] in court.” (Adolph, supra, 14 Cal.5th at p. 1119.)
The Adolph court concluded such an aggrieved employee does have standing to pursue
non-individual PAGA claims in court: “In sum, where a plaintiff has filed a PAGA

action comprised of individual and non-individual claims, an order compelling arbitration
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of individual claims does not strip the plaintiff of standing to litigate non-individual

claims in court.” (/d. at p. 1123.) The California Supreme Court reversed this court’s

prior judgment and remanded the case for further proceedings consistent with its opinion.

(Id. atp. 1128.) The parties did not submit supplemental briefs after the finality of the

California Supreme Court’s opinion. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.200(b)(1).)
DISCUSSION

Because the evidence is not in conflict, we review the order denying a
petition to compel arbitration de novo. (Banc of California, National Assn. v. Superior
Court (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 357, 367.) The trial court’s order granting a preliminary
injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. (Hunt v. Superior Court (1999)

21 Cal.4th 984, 999; Olson v. Hornbrook Community Services Dist. (2021)
68 Cal.App.5th 260, 268.)

The arbitration agreement between the parties contains a PAGA waiver by
which Adolph “agree[d] not to bring a representative action on behalf of others under
[PAGA] in any court or in arbitration.” Such a waiver is unenforceable. (Iskanian,
supra, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 383-384.) Viking River affirmed this portion of the Iskanian
holding. (Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. _ [142 S.Ct. at pp. 1916—1917].) Pursuant to
paragraph 15.3(v) of the arbitration agreement between Adolph and Uber, this
unenforceable provision must be severed from the agreement. (Viking River, supra,
596 U.S.  [142 S.Ct. at pp. 1917, 1925].)

Viking River held non-individual PAGA claims must be dismissed when
individual PAGA claims are sent to arbitration. “PAGA provides no mechanism to
enable a court to adjudicate non-individual PAGA claims once an individual claim has
been committed to a separate proceeding. Under PAGA’s standing requirement, a
plaintiff can maintain non-individual PAGA claims in an action only by virtue of also
maintaining an individual claim in that action. [Citation.] When an employee’s own

dispute is pared away from a PAGA action, the employee is no different from a member
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of the general public, and PAGA does not allow such persons to maintain suit.” (Viking
River, supra, 596 U.S.  [142 S.Ct. at p. 1925].)

The California Supreme Court, however, held in Adolph that a plaintiff
whose individual PAGA claims are subject to arbitration still has standing to pursue
non-individual PAGA claims in court. (Adolph, supra, 14 Cal.5th at p. 1123.) The
United States Supreme Court’s contrary decision does not bind the California Supreme
Court. “Because ‘[t]he highest court of each State . . . remains “the final arbiter of what

999

is state law™”’ [citation], we are not bound by the high court’s interpretation of California
law. (Id. at p. 1119; see Viking River, supra, 596 U.S. atp. _ [142 S.Ct. at p. 1925]
(conc. opn. of Sotomayor, J.) [‘Of course, if this Court’s understanding of state law is
wrong, California courts, in an appropriate case, will have the last word’].) And although
the high court’s interpretations may serve as persuasive authority in cases involving a
parallel federal constitutional provision or statutory scheme [citations], Viking River does
not interpret any federal provision or statute similar to PAGA.” (Adolph, supra, 14
Cal.5th at p. 1119.) Adolph has standing to proceed with his non-individual PAGA
claims in the trial court, while his individual PAGA claims must be addressed in
arbitration.

The parties’ arbitration agreement provides that if its PAGA waiver is
found to be unenforceable and is severed, “any representative actions brought under the
PAGA must be litigated in a civil court of competent jurisdiction,” and “the litigation of
any representative PAGA claims in a civil court of competent jurisdiction shall be stayed,
pending the outcome of any individual claims in arbitration.” The language of the
arbitration agreement is consistent with Adolph’s statements to the California Supreme
Court regarding the proper resolution of this matter, where he explained “his PAGA
action could proceed in the following manner if he were ordered to arbitrate his
individual PAGA claim: First, the trial court may exercise its discretion to stay the non-

individual claims pending the outcome of the arbitration pursuant to section 1281.4 of the
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Code of Civil Procedure. Following the arbitrator’s decision, any party may petition the
court to confirm or vacate the arbitration award under section 1285 of the Code of Civil
Procedure. If the arbitrator determines that Adolph is an aggrieved employee in the
process of adjudicating his individual PAGA claim, that determination, if confirmed and
reduced to a final judgment (Code Civ. Proc., § 1287.4), would be binding on the court,
and Adolph would continue to have standing to litigate his non-individual claims. If the
arbitrator determines that Adolph is not an aggrieved employee and the court confirms
that determination and reduces it to a final judgment, the court would give effect to that
finding, and Adolph could no longer prosecute his non-individual claims due to lack of
standing. [Citation.]

“Uber makes no convincing argument why this manner of proceeding
would be impractical or would require relitigating Adolph’s status as an aggrieved
employee in the context of his non-individual claims, and we see no basis for Uber’s
concern. In any event, Viking River makes clear that in cases where the FAA applies, no
such relitigation may occur. [Citation.]” (Adolph, supra, 14 Cal.5th at pp. 1123-1124.)

The trial court’s order denying the petition to compel arbitration was based
on “California authority indicat[ing] PAGA actions cannot be split in individual
arbitrable and representative nonarbitrable components.” As that authority is no longer
valid, the trial court’s order must be reversed with directions to grant the petition to
compel arbitration with respect to Adolph’s individual PAGA claims and to deny the
petition with respect to Adolph’s non-individual PAGA claims.

The trial court’s order granting the preliminary injunction was similarly
based on the trial court’s finding “the only purpose the arbitration sought by defendant
can now serve . . . is to impermissibly split the PAGA claim.” Because the PAGA claim
is, in part, arbitrable, Adolph has not demonstrated a likelihood of prevailing on the

merits of the issue or a likelihood the interim harm he might suffer would outweigh any
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harm suffered by Uber. Therefore, the order granting the preliminary injunction must
also be reversed.
DISPOSITION
The orders are reversed. The petition to compel arbitration shall be granted

in part and denied in part. Appellant to recover costs on appeal.

O’LEARY, P. J.

WE CONCUR:

MOORE, J.

GOETHALS, J.
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